HISTORICAL AND RELIGIOUS TRADITION
One of the fathers of the Church, St John Chrysostom, taught: "The temple is a place of angels, archangels, the kingdom of God, heaven itself." Whenever we gather at an Orthodox church for prayer, a gate to heaven opens. Close to Christ and the saints who watch us from the holy icons through the flame of candles and the smoke of incense, in the ritual gestures and chant of the faithful, we are indeed becoming "the mystical image of the cherubim" – the icon of the heavenly liturgy.

Due to the constant presence of the sacrifice of Christ, the temple of the New Testament becomes not a mere point on the world map, but the centre of the universe. Every place where the Eucharist is celebrated is united with heaven, is Jacob’s ladder and the tree of the cross, by which God descends on earth. In this the deepest and the most fundamental significance of the erection of a church is expressed, in a structure of timber or stone.

At the end of the first millennium, the undivided Church abounded in a diversity of religious tradition. Poland adopted Christianity from Rome (966), Kyiv Rus' from Constantinople (988). The encounter of the two Christian worlds created conflicts but at the same time was both invigorating and inspiring. A testimony to the rich culture of the Latin-Byzantine borderlands are monumnents of exceptional value and beauty. They remain to this day the treasures of this land, despite the painful experiences of the past century as a result of which Ukrainians - the descendants of SS Olga and Vladimir - are today only a small national and religious minority on the territory of the historical Przemyśl eparchy (the region from the upper course of the Poprad river to Lubaczów). 

The Eastern Church in these lands harkens back to the apostolic evangelising mission of St. Andrew and the work of the holy monks Cyril and Methodius, the Apostles of the Slavs, who elevated the Slavonic language to the rank of a liturgical language, created its alphabet and translated biblical texts into it. This land has its first martyrs Boris and Gleb as its patrons, as well as the fathers of the monastic life, Anthony and Theodosius. Only a few decades after adopting Christianity the bishop metropolitan of Kiev, Ilarion, described the splendour of the places of worship in this way: "Behold your blossoming churches, behold Christianity flourishing, behold your city gleaming, adorned with holy icons and fragrant with thyme, praising God and filling the air with sacred songs. And beholding all this, rejoice and be of good cheer, and praise the Lord, the creator of all which you have seen."

Prince Volodar bestowed the splendour of sanctity on his town by having the Church of the Nativity of St John the Baptist, the cathedral of the bishops of Przemyśl, constructed. Although the first to have been known by name was Bishop Antonii Dobrynia, ordained in 1218, the episcopacy of Przemyśl had existed as early as the mid-11th century. The close relations of the town on the San River with Constantinople were confirmed in 1104 by the marriage of Volodar’s daughter (in Byzantium bearing the name Irene) with Prince Andronikos, the son of Emperor Alexis I Komnenos - clear evidence of the unusually high position of the Przemyśl bishopric and principality in the system of ecclesiastical and secular authority in Rus'.

A new light on the earliest history of this region is being cast by the archaeological excavations conducted on the settlement in Trepcza near Sanok, where in the 12th and the 13th century there was Sanok's most powerful stronghold and an important centre of the princely and episcopal administration. This is confirmed by the discovery of remnants of the residential building, two successively constructed churches and a vast cemetery. Among numerous interesting findings there are two seals of the prince of Novgorod and Kyiv, Ruryk Rostislavich, a silhouette icon with an image of the archangel made of bronze and seven enkolpia (reliquaries). In one of them a very special relic was stored, a fragment of 
a meteorite, which was recorded to have been fallen in 1091 ("a huge serpent fell from the sky, and all the people were terrified; at this time the earth uttered a groan") and which was read as a sign from God. It was in the town of Trepcza in 1206, after the death of the Grand Prince of Halych, Volodymyr and Kyiv Roman, his wife Anna (daughter of Ruryk Rostislavich) found refuge with her sons Basil and Daniel, who later became the king of Rus'-Ukraine.

When in the mid-14th century, the Polish king Kazimierz the Great conquered a large part of the Rus' lands, a multinational state was created, with two independent structures of church administration, Latin and Greek. The Przemyśl bishopric was incorporated into the Orthodox metropolis of Halych, renewed in 1370. It was a period of mutually enriching inter-relations of both Christian traditions. Many elements of the material culture of Eastern Christianity was assimilated by the Latin Church. Among the finest examples of such influences are the monumental wall paintings in churches in Kraków, Sandomierz and Lublin, commissioned by Polish kings and executed by Orthodox Ruthenian painters. On the other hand, the meeting with Western European art resulted in a renaissance of Ukrainian icon painting in the late 16th and the early 17th century.

The mutual respect for the neighbour’s religious tradition became one of the elements facilitating efforts for the restoration of church unity. It was confirmed during the Council of Brest. The Act of Union, signed in 1596, was of fundamental significance for the further functioning of the Orthodox Church in the Republic. It placed the dioceses of the Eastern Church under the jurisdiction of Rome, but at the same time guaranteed their right to organizational, ritual and canonical individuality. However, this idea was not universally accepted, and, as a result, there are today two Churches derived from the Eastern tradition, Greek Catholic (Uniate) and Eastern Orthodox. Both of them adhere to Byzantine-Slavic rites and continue to be faithful to the heritage of the first millennium of Christianity.
A landscape with a silhouette of an Eastern church emanates dignity. The ancient linden or oak trees bent over a church and the path trodden upon for centuries remember successive churches revived by the efforts of skilled carpenters. The methods of their construction are more ancient than the history of Christianity in the land of Slavs, while local differences serve only to highlight a universal idea. Covering the largest, central part with a dome makes the entire structure look more compact and enhances the vertical direction. The cubic space in which the faithful gather is a symbol of the temporal element, while the fluid lines of the dome surmounting the structure refer to heavenly perfection. The borders of the sacred space are delineated by the altar partition – the iconostasis. It obstructs the sense of sight, but it is also aimed at forming in us a different kind of sensibility –spiritual sight. While contemplating an icon depicting Christ and his saints we stand in awe in front of the mystery that is being solemnised on the altar.

Just such principles of church construction are typical of the churches in the Przemyśl diocese of the Eastern Church. The threefold (Venetian) type of building in which three rooms create an axial foundation became prevalent here. These are the sanctuary, the nave and the narthex (prytvor or babynets'). The roofs are usually formed in shape of a dome above the nave and ridge roof construction above the sanctuary and the narthex, or they are formed in the shape of three domes. The sanctuary of a church is directed towards the rising sun in expectation of the second coming of Christ. In older churches the sanctuary is flanked by pastophoria - prothesis and diaconicon, and the eastern part of the nave is flanked by krylosy.

From the ritual point of view, the prothesis is of special importance. The altar table is there for the first part of the liturgical celebration, the preparation of the gifts. Bread and wine are ceremonially carried from there through the deacon and royal doors of the iconostasis onto the prestol, the main altar, where through the Holy Spirit they are mystically turned into the body and blood of the Saviour. A few pastophoria and the prothesis itself can be found in, among others, the churches in Chotyniec (before  1615), Ulucz (mid 17th century) and Kruhel Wielki (before 1630). Spaces for the choir, the krylosy, are preserved in a church in Poździacz (currently Leszno, 1737).

Located above the narthex under separate invocation and serving liturgical purposes chapels were inscribed in a church block in Radruż ( the third quarter of the 16th century) and Chotyniec. At the end of the 17th century they were widespread  and later removed or transformed into choir lofts, for example in Powroźnik (1600). 

Modifications of churches and church complexes owing to reconstructions or enlargements had consequences for how they look today. Looking back on it, the erection of the belfry towers above the narthexes of Lemko churches (from the 18th century) may also be accepted as a modification. Today they determine how church construction looks in this region. The oldest, certified date of construction of the tower (1742) concerns the church in Kwiatoń (1700).
Among preserved buildings, the churches with unique spacious and constructional solutions are invaluable and reflect the oldest building traditions. Among them are the brick monastery church in Posada Rybotycka (early 15th century) with a complex of murals from the 15th century and the wooden gate church in Dobra Szlachecka from the beginning of the 17th century. Vaulted with a dome above the part for the faithful and a cradle above the altar part abutted on a pillar frame tower construction, the dual chapel of a framework construction is the main part of this church.

The above-mentioned churches, like those in Powroźnik (1600), Owczary – Rychwałd (1653), Krempna (17th century), Bałucianka (17th century), Smolnik on the San (1791), Równia (1792) or Rossolin (1750) are real pearls of sacred architecture. Most of them are wooden, shaped by axe, with massive soleplate piles and shingled roofs and copulas rising towards the sky. They all stand as a testimony to their creators' genius.

In the 19th and beginning of  the 20th century traditional patterns from provincial and folk art became the basis for the development of national styles. While the Zakopane style was gaining popularity in Polish architecture, Ukrainian architecture was based on sacred building forms in the eastern part of the Carpathians. This trend is also represented in the church architecture of our region: Daliowa (1907), Polany (1914), Bystre (1902), Hoszów (1939), Hoszowczyk (1926), Chmiel (1926), Leszczowe (1922), Kormanice (1923).

The Universal Church provided a justification for the role of icons in religious worship and the rules of their execution in the council in 787. The experience of iconoclasm affected Byzantium very strongly, but it also contributed to the development of the rich theological thought devoted to holy images and to the conscious adoption of the icon. It was confirmed by the establishment of the holiday of the triumph of Orthodoxy in 843. It falls on the first Sunday of Lent and is the day of special homage to God in his holy images.

While the sacred art of the Western Church began to stray from the idea of a painting as a symbol of supra-natural reality towards realism or abstract ideas, Eastern Christianity did not take the same path. The image of God still remains here the emanation of the sacred archetype. The icons of saints reveal the biblical likeness of the creator and his creation, becoming the image of God’s countenance contained in the icons, derived from the image of Christ himself. Iconographic cohesion (expressed, for example, by the use of pattern books and the copying of earlier icons) was based on the identity of numerous versions of the same theme. The notions of a “copy” or “imitation,” in their Western sense, are not applicable. Christ and the saints are usually shown frontally, in poses full of dignity. Mutual relations among figures in multi-figure scenes can be clearly interpreted. Elements of landscape and architecture have a special meaning and the rules of perspective are abandoned purposefully.

Icons were usually painted on wooden boards, as wood is a durable and stable material, using equally durable mineral or organic paints. The icons preserved their splendour for centuries due to the choice of the finest materials. Painted forms were shaped using several layers of tempera paint, gradually passing from the deepest parts of shadows to the brightest tones which are the closest to the viewer. Light was from the “inside” of a painting instead of coming from a specific point outside, so it also served to create painted forms. Shining, gold or silver backgrounds served to place the figures on the border between the heavenly and the earthly dimensions.

A painter’s workshop and artistic individuality were at the service of the unimaginable mystery of the glory of God. While painting an icon, the artist fasted and prayed; he considered his talent a gift but also a duty. Even if his name was signed on the icon, he as 
a person remained hidden from the eyes of the faithful and called himself an unworthy servant of God.
Our idea about Orthodox church decor is influenced by its high iconostases, but these were formed in the late 16th and the early 17th century. Earlier, low screens were constructed, while the majority of iconographic themes were executed on wall painting. The earliest, more elaborate sets of wall paintings have survived in such localities as Posada Rybotycka (15th century), Powroźnik (1607), Radruż (1648) and Gorajec (mid-17th century). The iconostases were low, and the wall paintings inside the sanctuary could be seen over the screens. Regardless of the period, the deliberate coordinated creation of the church interior furnishings on the basis of monumental and tabular painting was characteristic. The paintings may originate from different times, but their iconography and their installation at a particular place in the church are subject to strictly defined canonical rules. An acute awareness of how Orthodox church decor should develop existed into the 18th century, but it was also not foreign to 19th and 20th-century artists.

The paintings were for generations a focus of local piety. Most of them were created in 
a period of significant growth of the local population, when new settlements and new churches were built. Paintings in rural Orthodox churches were at a relatively low level of artistry in terms of their craftsmanship. This stream in Ukrainian sacred painting should be defined as “primitive”, but this word is not used in a pejorative sense. Formal imperfection was compensated by the perspicuity with which the artists interpreted the original models. Often their works offer an intuitive (perhaps naive, but still magnificent) synthesis of the most significant features of icon panting. It is expressed in the special care for the faithful rendering of iconographic detail (gestures, positioning of feet, forms of dress, furniture, architecture and inscriptions), as if constructing a painting from individual elements. Such an approach enhances the significance of detail, although sometimes an excessive expression or deformation are unwanted side-effects. The approach to colour is similar. A limited palette of colours, reduced, sometimes almost graphic modelling, with contours drawn in somewhat unsteady black lines, while at the same time remaining faithful to the original, however with local colours – all this intensifies the appeal of the icon. The true value of such icons is their attachment to the iconographic tradition and the supremacy of the main function over form.

The late 16th century and the early 17th century were periods of dynamic changes in Orthodox church art, from which the characteristic form of a Ukrainian iconostasis was born. The changes took place in both ideological composition and the structural aspects of those important elements of the Orthodox church interior. A flat partition with paintings on it became replaced with a selfstanding structure of an iconostasis which was clearly divided into levels and axes, strongly enhanced by the use of architectural and ornamental sculpted detail. Painting itself was subject to stylistic and iconographic changes. This process did not lead, however, to the Latinisation of Orthodox church art. Only those elements which could be creatively processed and which made the liturgical and theological function of the work more clearly legible were borrowed selectively, while the language of Renaissance and Baroque forms was translated into the language of icon painting.

Among the most important religious and social factors which brought about those changes to 17th-century Orthodox church art, were: a revival movement in both the Orthodox Church and the Catholic Church, aimed at counteracting the Reformation; an increased significance of burghers and Orthodox church confraternities; and structural changes in the milieu of artists working for the Orthodox Church. The latter meant the establishment of workshops outside monasteries, whether organised in the form of guilds or established by groups or artists who remained outside formal structures for various reasons, but whose skills matched those of guild painters, as well as by provincial painters, imitating with more or less success the outstanding achievements in painting and carving from that period. The largest architectural complexes, with works of art and furnishings of the highest quality, were mainly commissioned by Orthodox churches in towns and cities and by monasteries; here the stylistic changes characteristic of that time were most clearly visible.
Before a multi-level iconostasis was fully formed, the rules of its composition and its iconographic content had evolved, especially in the late 16th and the early 17th century; the natural direction of the process of change was towards the highlighting of its function but without changing its theological message.

No complete iconostasis from the 15th or the 16th century has survived in the region in question. Their appearance and ideological content can be reconstructed on the basis of an analysis of surviving parts and the structures of iconostasis walls in an Orthodox church. Originally the form of an iconostasis was similar to that of iconostases from the Balkan region. It consisted of an epistylon (a painting on the background consisting of a long panel, whole or composed of several segments), fixed on the templon (astructural beam or beams of the iconostasis wall above the passage from the nave to the sanctuary; below the ornamental openwork top part of the iconostasis). A multi-figure scene of the deesis was usually depicted on the templon. Above the epistylon, against the background of the top openwork structure of the iconostasis was a full or silhouette icon of the crucifixion. Below the deesis, on the side walls of the iconostasis, the namistne icons were placed: the khramova icon defining the patronage of the church and the second icon thematically associated with local worship. The passage between the nave and the sanctuary might have either a low balustrade or a curtain. Icons were fixed on the iconostasis using grooved slats.

A greater number of surviving namistne icons, often with images of the Mother of God with child and of Christ, dating from the second half of the 15th century confirms the fact that the lower level of the iconostasis was becoming more elaborate. Since that time it has been formed from four icons – two of which are on curtain walls which partly conceal the passage between the sanctuary and the nave. Also at that time the royal doors, and perhaps also the deacon doors began to be installed in the namistne icon range. Royal doors made from a solid board were usually adorned with paintings depicting the evangelists or the annunciation, or, more rarely, St Basil the Great and St John Chrysostom with the scene of the annunciation or the communion of the apostles. A horizontal image of Christ's face imprinted on a cloth (mandylion) found its place above the royal doors or the deacon doors.

From a few surviving icons one can see that a row of feast (prazdniki) icons already appeared in the early 16th century. It was probably situated between the namistne icons and the deesis. In the 16th century the most important change in the iconographic content was the transformation of the deesis group. The icons of the saints arranged in "orders" on the sides of the trimorphon (most often depicting the archangels, apostles, martyrs, fathers of the Church, monks and hermits, two from each group) were replaced by the icons of the twelve apostles, including St Paul and the evangelists Mark and Luke. Iconostases from that period were usually axial compositions; in addition to the royal doors they only had one deacon door on the north side.

In discussing traceable changes in the composition and ideological content of an iconostasis and their chronology, one should bear in mind that new and archaic forms could have been created at the same time. This can be seen in the coexistence of the apostles row along with the earlier deesis in the 16th century. Iconostases with only two namistne icons and an open passage between the sanctuary and the nave might also have been made in the same period. Generally, a 16th-century iconostasis contained a row of namistne icons with the royal doors and the mandylion over it, a range of the feast icons, the great deesis and the crucifixion in the top part.

The evolution of the ideological content of the iconostasis ran in parallel with the changes in monumental wall painting and must be seen in this context. Here a certain degree of latitude was allowed in choosing the technique. Large paintings of the Lord’s passion and the last judgment on side walls of the nave were most often realised in both techniques. Sometimes the iconostases or their parts (upper levels) were painted directly on the iconostasis wall. Where there was an upper floor in the church, two separate sets of paintings were created, sometimes very sophisticated, one for the church itself, the other for the upper chapel.

The iconographic content of painted decor in various Orthodox churches was mostly conditioned by the funding available to those who commissioned them. Often the implementation of the project was phased, sometimes over a long period of time. Orthodox churches in towns and cities and monastery churches usually had the richest furnishings. In many lesser churches, paintings of the Lord’s passion and the last judgment were present in addition to the iconostasis.

As mentioned above, the surviving examples seem to show that fifteenth- and sixteenth-century iconostases were legibly divided into several levels, but the changes towards more clearly pronounced horizontal axes and then for a more sophisticated visual appearance of the partition itself were usually rather slow. The first phase was the separation of the trimorphon and the figures in the deesis scene by means of painting, through vertical bands, differentiation of the background and a relief basis for gilt elements. The next step was that the structure was surmounted by an addition of a row of the feast icons and an increased number of the namistne icons up to four, followed by the introduction of the royal doors and the deacon door. The unification of the rhythm of vertical divisions in each row resulted in the installation of the second deacon door, due to which a composition with a clearly defined vertical axis was achieved. The division of the iconostasis into visually separate parts began from the framing of the icons forming it using flat profile slats. This gave way to the increasingly sophisticated carved elements leading to the openwork ornamentation based on the models drawn from various historic styles (mainly Renaissance and Baroque).

Finally, homogenous architectural orders were used in the iconostases for framing the paintings. As a result of the structural and stylistic homogenisation of the iconostasis and its further upward development, it needed to have its own load-bearing structure and became an autonomous element of the furnishings of the Orthodox church, independent of the structures of the wall between the sanctuary and the nave.

A surviving plan of the 16th-century iconostasis from the Dormition church in Lviv suggests that Lviv iconostases in the late 16th and the early 17th century began to have sculptural decorations highlighting the divisions of the altar partition. This trend reached its full bloom in the 17th and the 18th century, adopting the forms of the late Renaissance and Baroque.

The evolution of the iconostasis towards the addition of new rows significantly enriched its ideological message as early as the second half of the 16th century. The level of the prophets appeared, which passed into general use in the 17th century. The image of the Mother of God Panagia was often placed in its centre, which is rooted in the earlier tradition of placing these images in the central part of the ceiling of the sanctuary, when it still could be seen through an open space in the wall above a low iconostasis.

The next theme introduced to the iconostasis (though not very widespread) was Our Lord’s passion, transferred from a side wall of the church. Its installation in the altar partition was to make Christ’s sacrifice on the cross present during the liturgy. The placing of certain images of holy martyrs had a similar purpose. The scenes of the Lord’s passion, sometimes shown together with the martyrs, can also be found in iconostases or their parts in the form of wall paintings.

In the iconostasis of the Church of SS Piatnytsia in Lviv one can see openwork royal door with images of the evangelists and the annunciation in medallions, in the door frame of the church - SS Basil the Great and John Chrysostom - and Christ giving a blessing in the arcade. The Old Testament priests Melchizedech and Aaron are portrayed on the fully formed deacon doors. Their figures adorned the deacon doors of the iconostasis in the Church of St Nicholas in Zamość, dating from 1653. Such iconography, typical of the first half of the 17th century, is in the iconostasis from the Church of the Holy Ghost in Rohatyn from 1650, where next to Melchizedech there is St Michael the Archangel. The images of the archangels Michael and Gabriel on the deacon doors became very popular in the second half of the 17th century. Icons of the mandylion and the Old Testament Trinity were often seen on the fronton over the royal doors and the deacon doors. The mandylion was also introduced into the row of the feasts of Pentecost, popular beginning from the second half of the 17th century. It was placed under the rangeof the feast icons Around the mid-17th century, painted predellas began to be installed under namistne icons. They are either ornamental or figurative. The themes of the paintings in the predellas were usually associated with the namistne icons above (also in the form of their Old Testament prefiguration), but were never precisely defined. Sometimes they contained epitaphs, with a portrait of a lay person.

Great skill in dealing with the formal aspect of icon painting, characteristic of the icons from the 14th and the 15th century, ceased to be a dominant feature of 16th-century workshops. The changes in Orthodox church paintings which can be seen from the late 16th century and after, associated with the introduction of new means of artistic expression, were aimed at the revival of the best traditions of “writing” icons. Orthodox church painters were in close contact with the circles and works of West European artists, produced works on secular themes and for churches and adapted the forms typical of the Baroque and the Renaissance to their own needs. Such forms were processed and used in a balanced manner, and they were differentlially applied depending on the element of the Orthodox church furnishing. This did not limit the icons to the dimension of a mere “painting on a religious theme”, but gave them a new power of expression. The use of wet modelling of the painting, using the so-called plava technique with oily tempera, and the application of oil scumbling on a tempera painting made the faces and the general body complexion look softer and more realistic. However, it was not chiaroscuro, as the impression of the emanation of light was still there. The robes of the figures were draped in the manner which was organically connected with their bodily positions. It was usually achieved though bright, simplified, somehow impatient, scumble effects on a dark background. Sometimes the dress was adorned with a meticulously executed plant and ornament pattern, typical of the period's rich fabrics. The effect is similar to that achieved by using a golden background, and where both were applied, they enhanced one another. Metallic ornaments on the robes were still used. The traditional composition of the main iconostasis imagery (namistne icons of Christ, the Mother of God and the saints, deesis and the prophets) remained preserved. Other icons either followed old iconographic patterns or were modified on the basis of Western models.

Monumental painting still had a significant role in the iconographic content of Orthodox church decor as late as the 17th century. Contrary to common clichés, it was a widespread phenomenon. The small number of surviving examples of such works of art is chiefly because few Orthodox churches of such early origins have survived, and even those that survived have been significantly remodelled. 17th-century wall paintings typical of the painted decor of wooden Orthodox churches have survived on the Polish and the Ukrainian sides of the border.
Over the centuries a church was a centre of local social life. It was always open for joyous christenings and weddings as well as for grave worries and the sorrows of departure. In the margins of old  church books you can find hand-written notes of clerics and psalmists who saved in such way the important cases from the oblivion, appealed to following generations asking for a prayer, recording the benefactors of the church, festivities, unusual natural phenomena, harvests, food prices, wars, pestilences, and sketching the epitaphs of relatives.

Even death did not break off relations with a church. An example is the primaeval custom of locating the cemetery in close proximity; this was bound up with a belief in the attainment of special favour at resurrection. In accordance with an early Christian tradition, the joyful time of the holidays connected with the Resurrection of the Lord is devoted to recollections of the dead and a prayer for their benefit. Church services are conducted at the graves, and in token of everlasting  community blessed food is consumed. In the greeting spoken during the entire period from Easter to Penteconst -- "Christ is risen" -- there is a hope for both living and dead.

The commonest gravestone form is an obelisk crowned with a cross. As for crosses crowning the church roofs, we find a great variety of them. Single-and three-barred forms (with the straight or diagonal footrest) were equally accepted. Each form of a cross could be enriched with other details, such as representations of the sun and moon - the signs of the New and Old Testament, a crescent moon at the base - indicating the fulfilment of the promise of the Redemption, an image of a skull - Adam's grave. Two female personages at the foot of the stone crosses made by gravestone carvers from Brusno represent Ecclesia and Synagoga. Tellingly, none of the forms mentioned here are specific to a particular Christian confession or rite. Only the church's tradition determined their popularity.
Despite the damage caused by wars and after 1947, the bells of Orthodox churches still ring, calling the faithful for service to the Lord. Today’s residents of this region are building their identity with an awareness of their cultural heritage – both at the local and national levels. The sacred heritage is perceived as a treasure of the region, and an element of its European heritage, worthy of being promoted and preserved. Perhaps the time is near when we will again create a community of enriching dialogue, as centuries ago. Let us look at the Eastern Churches as a living source of Christian tradition. It is a source still close to us. It suffices to reach out for it, to open the door of an Orthodox church, stand in front of an iconostasis and listen to the liturgical chant....

